A. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Michael Justice is appealing his convictions for

unlawfully possessing a firearm and first degree assault while

armed with a firearm, based on a shootout between him and

Edward Roy on July 14, 2012, in Seattle's Columbia City

neighborhood. Neither man was hit or injured. Justice admitted he

fired the first shot, but testified he acted in self defense; Roy

previously threatened to kill him and lifted up his shirt to reveal the

butt of a gun only moments before Justice fired that first shot.

Although Roy fired several shots in Justice's direction, Justice and

his wife escaped by driving away.

Justice admitted he mouthed off to Roy immediately

preceding the shooting. Over defense counsel's objection, the

court gave an aggressor instruction, which instructed the jury

Justice was not entitled to act in self defense if he acted in a way

that was likely to provoke a belligerent response. The court's

instruction did not advise the jury that "words alone" are not

sufficient provocation to defeat a self defense claim.

Justice will argue there was no basis for the court to give the

aggressor instruction in the first place, and alternatively, that it was

error to give it without also instructing the jury that words alone are

-1-



an insufficient basis to find someone is a first aggressor. To the

extent counsel contributed to the error by failing to request the

"words alone" language once his objection was overruled, Justice

received ineffective assistance of counsel. Additionally, because

the prosecutor misstated the law in closing argument regarding the

aggressor instruction, Justice is entitled to a new trial.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in giving a first aggressor

instruction to the jury.

2. The trial court erred in giving a first aggressor

instruction that failed to advise the jury "words alone" are not

sufficient to qualify one as a first aggressor.

3. To the extent counsel contributed to the error, Justice

received ineffective assistance of counsel.

4. Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument violated

Justice's right to a fair trial.

5. The court's exclusion of exculpatory evidence

deprived Justice of his right to present a defense.

6. The procedure by which the court took peremptory

challenges violated Justice's right to a public trial.

-2-



7. The court acted outside its authority by including an

Arizona conviction in Justice's offender score.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. The only purpose of an aggressor instruction is to

remove a self-defense claim from the jury's consideration. By

submitting the aggressor instruction to the jury where the instruction

was not supported by the evidence, and by submitting an

instruction that did not inform jurors "words alone" are an

insufficient provocation to defeat a self defense claim, did the trial

court deprive Justice of his right to present a defense and his right

to have the prosecution prove the lack of self defense beyond a

reasonable doubt?

2. Did Justice receive ineffective assistance of counsel

where: (i) defense counsel - once his objection to the aggressor

instruction was overruled - failed to request the court include

language indicating "words alone" are not sufficient provocation to

make someone a first aggressor; and (ii) there was evidence

appellant mouthed off to Roy immediately preceding the shooting,

upon which the jury could have relied to find Justice was a first

aggressor?

-3-



3. In closing, the prosecutor argued Justice could not

claim self defense because he created the need to act in self

defense by firing his gun. This was the act that formed the basis for

the alleged assault, however. It is well settled that the act of

aggression justifying an aggressor instruction cannot be the assault

itself. Did the prosecutor's misstatement of the law constitute

prosecutorial misconduct depriving Justice of his right to a fair trial?

4. The defense sought to call DeShawn Miliken as a

witness in its case-in-chief. The offer of proof indicated Miliken

would testify that sometime after the shooting, he approached Roy

and made some sort of plea on Justice's behalf. In response, Roy

threatened, "Don't make me do you like I almost killed your boy."1

Defense counsel argued the evidence was relevant because it

tended to show Roy was the aggressor. Did the court's ruling

excluding this exculpatory evidence violate Justice's right to present

a defense?

5. During jury selection, the trial court employed a

procedure that prevented the public from scrutinizing the parties'

peremptory challenges. Did this violate appellant's constitutional

right to a public trial?

1 RP1413.
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6. Did the court err in including in Justice's offender

score an Arizona conviction that was neither legally nor factually

comparable to a Washington offense?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 14, 2012, Justice and his wife ShaQuina Justice2

were visiting from Arizona. RP 1719. The couple was considering

relocating here. RP 1521, 1719. ShaQuina received job offers

from the City of Seattle and King County District Court. RP 1521.

Justice interviewed with the City of Tacoma water department. RP

1522, 1719. Both grew up here, but each moved to Arizona in early

adulthood to attend college. RP 1519, 1717-18.

The Justices have many friends and family members still

living in Seattle. RP 1717, 1720-22. Edward Roy used to be one of

them. RP 1089, 1721. Not only did Justice and Roy grow up

together, both were members of a fairly tight knit athletic

community. RP 1472-1478, 1492, 1721-22. Justice played football

in high school and college. RP 1477, 1718. Roy played high

school basketball and reportedly, was (at one time) as good as his

2To avoid confusion, ShaQuina Justice will be referred to by her first name. No
disrespect is intended.
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younger brother, Brandon Roy,3 who played professionally. RP

1368.

Douglas Wrenn was a member of the same tight knit athletic

community. RP 1472-78, 1492. He played professional basketball

and knew both Justice and Roy. RP 1472-75. Wrenn testified Roy

has a reputation for violence, which is one of the reasons he did not

go further in his basketball career. RP 1492-93.

Justice considered Roy to be like a brother to him. RP 1720-

22. In the months preceding the shooting, however, Roy began to

harbor a grudge against Justice. RP 1722. Apparently, Justice's

mother made some unkind remarks about Brandon while at a

beauty shop that were repeated to Roy. RP 1722-23, 1732.

Justice was unaware of Roy's grudge until March 2012,

when he was in Seattle for a wedding. RP 1482, 1723. It was

Wrenn who informed Justice there was a potential problem. RP

1483, 1724. Wrenn testified that once when he brought up

Justice's name in conversation, Roy responded, "Fuck that nigger.

He's a bitch." RP 1480. Wrenn further testified Roy said he was

going to "pop him." RP 1480.

To avoid confusion, Brandon Roy will also be referred to by his first name. No
disrespect is intended.



One day while Justice was visiting, Wrenn asked if

everything was okay between Justice and Roy. RP 1483, 1724.

When Justice said it was, Wrenn suggested Justice call Roy to

make sure. RP 1483, 1724.

When Justice called, Roy was antagonistic. RP 1485-87,

1725. At first, Roy pretended not to know Justice. RP 1485, 1725.

He later threatened to shoot Justice, vaguely threatening that

Justice should wear a "vest," but also that Roy would be aiming for

his head. RP 1477-78, 1729. Justice eventually hung up. RP

1489, 1729. Wrenn told Justice about the previous conversation he

had with Roy. RP 1734.

Back in Arizona, Justice heard rumors Roy was threatening

to kill Justice's older brother. RP 1732. Justice again telephoned

Roy in an effort to quash the one-sided feud. RP 1732. Initially,

Roy was hostile again. RP 1732. Justice was contrite and

attempted to persuade Roy that whatever the issue was, Justice's

brother had no involvement. RP 1732, 1753. Justice believed that

by the end of the conversation, the men were on good terms. RP

1733.

The apparent cease-fire was short lived, however, as Justice

soon heard additional rumors Roy continued to insult Justice



behind his back and threaten to kill Justice and his brother. RP

1761.

The morning of the shooting, the Justices had just finished

breakfast at Geraldine's Counter, a popular restaurant on the

corner of Rainier Avenue and South Ferdinand Street. RP 1522.

They walked back to their rental car, a red Dodge Challenger,

which they parked in a pay lot just east of Geraldine's on the south

side of Ferdinand. RP 1523, 1543.

As the Justices prepared to exit the parking lot, Roy turned

into the lot in a black SUV,4 drove around the parking lot and came

to a stop behind the Justices' car. RP 1525, 1760. Justice got out

of the car and approached Roy's SUV, hoping to resolve past

issues face-to-face. RP 1526, 1763.

Justice testified that when he looked Roy in the eye and said

he thought they resolved the dispute, Roy immediately pulled out a

gun and said: "Fuck you, boy. I'll kill you." RP 1764-65. Justice

tried to reason with Roy, but Roy got out of his truck and became

physical. RP 1765. ShaQuina testified that Roy started "chest

bumping" Justice while loudly asking, "what the fuck do you want

nigger?" RP 1526-27.

4Roy drives a black Yukon Denali truck-based SUV. RP 1016, 1085.
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At 6 feet 6 inches tall, Roy is taller than Justice and stood

over him, gun still in hand, berating Justice.5 RP 1236, 1766.

Justice started to back away, urging: "Don't do this, bro." RP 1767.

Roy responded, "This ain't what you want." RP 1767. Justice was

scared, but told Roy he spoke to Brandon recently; Justice thought

he was starting to diffuse the situation. RP 1769. But Roy said,

"The money's already on your head." RP 1770.

Roy eventually got back in his truck and parked. RP 1526-

27, 1766. Justice walked back to his car and told ShaQuina to

leave. RP 1529, 1773. ShaQuina kept a gun in her purse for

protection. RP 1534. Unbeknownst to ShaQuina, Justice took it

from her purse, before she drove off. RP 1525, 1568.

Justice testified he was afraid and did not want to jeopardize

his wife's safety by getting in the car with her. RP 1774. He did not

plan to use the gun, but took it in case he needed to protect

himself. RP 1776.

Justice testified he was afraid Roy was going to shoot him.

RP 1740. Since Brandon made it into the NBA, Roy acted above

the law. RP 1740. In fact, Roy bragged the police would never

touch him. RP 1735.

5Although not as tall as Roy,'Justice is also tall at 6 feet 3 inches. RP 410.



Justice knew about an incident during which Roy threw a

metal marijuana grinder at his sister Jaamela Roy6 and hit her in

the face. RP 1944. The grinder knocked out three of Jaamela's

top teeth, chipped a bottom tooth and busted her upper and lower

lips. RP 1944-45. Christopher Watkins was Jaamela's boyfriend at

the time and received Jaamela's teary phone call shortly after it

happened. RP 1943, 1945. He also saw her busted up face once

she returned home from the emergency room. RP 1945.

Considering what Roy had done to his own sister, Justice

was particularly fearful of Roy's violent tendencies. RP 1739.

Roy walked west towards Geraldine's Counter. RP 1777.

Justice intended to follow him there to have another conversation,

possibly beg for his life and end the dispute. RP 1779. Justice

crossed over to the north side of the street by Rookies, another

restaurant on Ferdinand, east of Geraldine's. RP 1873-74.

Justice admitted he started mouthing off:

I - I was yelling, "You bitch ass nigger." I was
like - I was yelling, "you's a sucker." I was yelling -
you know what I'm saying? -- basically he's a bitch.

RP 1785.

6To avoid confusion, Jaamela Roy will also be referred to by her first name. No
disrespect is intended.
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Meanwhile, ShaQuina had gone around the block and

returned to South Ferdinand Street, where she asked Justice to get

in the car. RP 1539.

Roy - who by this time had crossed over to the south side of

Ferdinand Street and was walking east toward the Pure Alchemy

and Reign Concept Salons (1788-89) - patted his hip and said,

"you better get in that car, boy." RP 1539, 1596-98, 1926, 1794,

1889. Justice responded, "don't go there." RP 1598, 1603. Afraid

to take his eyes off Roy, Justice did not get in the car. RP 1795.

Trees blocked Justice's view of Roy as he reached the area

by the salons. RP 1792-93. Unsure of what was happening,

Justice crossed to the south side of the street and slightly west

toward Roy. RP 1788, 1793. ShaQuina backed up into the

alley/parking lot on the north side of South Ferdinand. RP 1541.

Justice testified that as Roy continued to approach, he said,

"too late now," took his left hand and lifted up his shirt to get his

gun. RP 1796. It was at that moment, Justice reacted and fired the

first shot. RP 1790. As Justice described, his "body took over" and

his "arm just immediately went up." RP 1796. Remembering his

past friendship with Roy, however, Justice did not fire at Roy

-11-



directly. RP 1797. Justice testified that as soon as he fired, Roy

started shooting, all the while continuing to advance. RP 1797.

Meanwhile, when ShaQuina heard the gunshot, she

panicked and drove out of the alley and east on South Ferdinand.

RP 1541. She testified Roy shot at the car. RP 1607. When she

turned left on 39th Avenue South, she heard Justice yelling at her to

stop. RP 1543. He came out from between some houses and got

in the passenger side of the car. RP 1543. ShaQuina heard more

shots. RP 1543. Fearing for her life, her only thought was to get

out of the area. RP 1544.

ShaQuina feared the flashy red rental car would become a

target and therefore decided to exchange the Challenger for a

different car at the rental agency. RP 1570. She did not think to

telephone police; growing up in the Central District, it was her

experience that police were not helpful. RP 1627. Justice testified

he feared further retaliation by Roy if he called police. RP 1800.

It was a busy day in Columbia City, and there were many

witnesses to the shooting. John Hayes was standing on the

southeast corner of South Ferdinand Street and Rainier Avenue

outside a coffee shop across from Geraldine's. RP 1672. He

heard yelling and turned to look east down Ferdinand. RP 1673.
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On the northeast side of the street he saw a man yelling at

someone to the west towards Rainier. RP 1673.

Hayes' attention was drawn to a young couple crossing to

his side of the street from Geraldine's. RP 1675. The woman was

lagging behind, and her attention was focused on the man to the

east who was yelling. RP 1675.

Hayes testified he saw the man closer to him pull up his tee

shirt, as if to display something. RP 1675-76. Hayes, who has

extensive experience with handguns, saw "what appeared to be the

butt of a semiautomatic weapon." RP 1677. It appeared to be

inside the man's waistband on the right side. RP 1677-78.

All of the sudden, Hayes heard gunfire. RP 1678-79. Hayes

grabbed his wife and hid. RP 1679. When the shooting stopped,

Hayes saw the young woman pop out of the Reign Salon and head

east on South Ferdinand. RP 1680. Hayes rushed to catch up with

her and told her she needed to talk to police. RP 1680.

When police arrived, Hayes herded the woman over to talk

to them. RP 1682. One of the officers asked her a couple of

questions, but she denied any involvement, at which point, the

officer walked away. RP 1683. Hayes contacted another officer

and directed him to the Reign Salon. RP 1686.
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Peter Lamb manages the parking lot on the south side of

Ferdinand, and maintains an office across the street. RP 392, 398,

402. Lamb installed a number of surveillance cameras at the office,

two facing the south parking lot, one facing west down Ferdinand

and one facing west toward the adjacent alley/parking lot. RP 392,

430-31.

Around noon, Lamb left the office to check the parking lot

pay box. RP 402. He noticed a man on the north side of Ferdinand

yelling west toward Rainier; the man reportedly said, "Hey, so and

so, get up here right now." RP 402.

As Lamb crossed the street toward the parking lot, the man

also started to cross. RP 404. Around the same time, a woman

drove east to west on Ferdinand in a shiny red Dodge (RP 1285),

and the man spoke to her through the window. RP 404, 406.

Lamb testified the man continued crossing the street, in a

southwesterly direction and appeared to be yelling at another man,

approximately 70 feet away to the west. RP 407-408. According to

Lamb, the man closest to him glanced back at him briefly, turned

back towards the west, and moments later, pulled a gun and

started shooting. RP 407. Lamb ran back towards his office and

hid, fearing he'd be caught in the crossfire. RP 412.
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Lamb testified the man to the east, closest to him, fired 1-3

shots and ran north through the parking lot between Lamb's office

and the adjacent building. RP413.

The man to the west ran after the man who ran into the alley

and fired 3-4 shots into the alley, before taking off in a black SUV.

RP 413-416. Lamb provided the DVD from the security cameras to

police. RP419.

Derek Baylor was returning to his townhouse on 39th Avenue

South and South Ferdinand Street just before the shooting. RP

448. He noticed a man near the parking lot shouting loudly. RP

448.

Baylor went inside his house on the south side of the street,

but could still hear yelling 2-3 minutes later. RP 448. Curious,

Baylor opened his deck door to take a look. RP 455. Baylor

testified the man he saw yelling was focused on a similar sized man

further west down the street. RP 459-60. The man to the east

called the man to the west a "punk" and said, "come back up here

and I'll kick your ass." RP 465.
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Baylor testified the man to the east crossed to the south and

west. RP 460. At that point, Baylor saw the man to the west walk

slowly east. RP 460. Baylor testified the man to the west stopped

behind a bush in front of the Reign Salon, when the men were

about 15 feet apart. RP 462. Baylor could not see what the

westerly man was doing, because bushes blocked Baylor's view.

RP 462, 464.

According to Baylor, the easterly man pulled out a pistol and

shot at the westerly man. RP 463. Baylor dropped to the floor,

fearing he would be caught in the crossfire. RP 463. Baylor kept

down, but heard 10-12 shots total. It sounded like a gunfight. RP

463. As an experienced shooter, too many shots overlapped to

have come from one gun. RP 464.

That morning, Shelly Tonge-Seymour had gone to the Pure

Alchemy Salon, with her partner Jill Tonge-Seymour and their 15-

year-old daughter for consecutive hair appointments.7 RP 526,

555, 581. Shelly and her daughter had finished and gone down the

street to shop. RP 527.

7To avoid confusion, this brief will refer to the Tonge-Seymours by their first
names.
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On the way back, Shelly noticed a man and a woman on the

sidewalk looking east on Ferdinand. RP 530. The man started to

slowly walk up the street, but the woman lagged behind. RP 531.

Shelly testified the man was saying something to a man further

east; it sounded like, "you are barking too loud." RP 532.

Shelly described the man closer to her as "sauntering." RP

534. The man was "very large" and "towering" over Tonge-

Seymour's daughter, who was tall in her own right, at 5 feet 11

inches. RP 535.

As Shelly and her daughter reached the salon and turned to

go up the stairs, Shelly heard a loud "bang." RP 536-37. Shelly

saw the man who had been walking in front of her and another man

in the street, both with pistols. RP 538. Shelly saw a spark near

the man closest to her and shoved her daughter up the stairs, into

the salon. RP 538.

Jill was still getting her hair cut at the time of the shooting.

Immediately before, she noticed a tall man walking east on

Ferdinand. RP 567. Although she heard shouting, she could not

tell whether he was involved. RP 567. Jill testified she heard 2

shots and then saw the man in front of the salon pull out a gun and

start shooting. RP 566, 569-70. According to Jill, the man fumbled
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while trying to pull the gun out from the right hand pocket of his

baggy pants. RP 569. Jill thought she heard 6 to 8 shots. RP 571.

Elizabeth Scott was cutting Jill's hair at the time of the

shooting. RP 661-70. Scott testified she heard yelling outside and

opened the door to see what was happening. RP 663. She

testified she saw a man across the street and thought she heard

him shout, "Get back in the car, boy." RP 663.

When Scott looked west to see whom the man was shouting

at, she noticed Shelly and her daughter heading back toward the

salon. RP 665. They were walking behind a couple, although the

woman was lagging behind. RP 665, 673, 688.

Scott testified the man was large and walked with a

"swagger" - "a definite sort of, you know, moving down, you know,

making an impression." RP 668. The man's swagger stood out to

Scott. RP 669. There was "a deliberateness about his - the way

he was moving[.]" RP 691.

Scott testified the man further east started to cross the street

at an angle toward the man closer to the salon. RP 669. According

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