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

instruction; however, a combination of words and aggressive

conduct can suffice. Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909, 911.

Atrial court properly gives a first aggressor instruction

where: 1) the jury can reasonably determine from the evidence that

the defendant provoked the fight; 2) the evidence conflicts as to

whether the defendant's conduct provoked the fight; or 3) the

evidence shows that the defendant made the first move by drawing

a weapon. State v. Anderson, 144 Wn. App. 85, 89, 180 P.3d 885

(2008) (citing Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909-10).

All three bases exist here. The jury could certainly

determine from watching the video that Justice provoked the fight —

the video shows Justice shouting and gesturing at Roy (Ex. 1

(File 13 at 10:40:09 — 10:40:13)), and then shooting twice before

Roy shoots back (Ex. 1 (Files 13 & 16 at 10:41:33 — 10:41:37)).

This evidence, and the evidence from numerous witnesses who

testified that Justice was the first to fire his gun, conflicted with

Justice's claim that he acted in self-defense. And the evidence is
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clear, including from Justice's own testimony, that he made the first

move by drawing his weapon. RP 1891.

Justice argues that the only aggressive act was "the assault

itself." Amended Brief of Appellant at 29. He claims that he was

"merely standing on the street" when the shooting started. Id. But

the testimony and the video belie these claims. Roy said that

Justice was gesturing at him ("throwing some type of hand signs

up") while Roy was still walking toward Geraldine's. RP 1105.

When Roy headed back up the street toward his car, Justice was

still gesturing, as if "trying to signal for me to come down that way."

RP 1110-11.

And there was more than Roy's testimony. Naomi Ishisaka

said that she was scared when Justice "reached toward his

waistband, like he was trying to like show that he was armed."

RP 829. Significantly, the video confirms that Justice was

gesticulating wildly at someone up the street, arms raised high in

the air, culminating in Justice lifting up his shirt. Ex. 1 (File 13 at

10:40:09 — 10:40:13).

The aggressive and threatening gestures portrayed in the

video and described in the testimony could, in combination with

Justice's loudly delivered and "highly offensive" epithets (RP 794),
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support giving a first aggressor instruction to the jury. See Riley,

137 Wn.2d at 909. (aggressor instruction proper when based not on

words alone, but on aggressive conduct as well).

But here there was an additional, even more compelling

basis for the first aggressor instruction. Justice was forced by

witness testimony and the video to admit that he fired the first shot.

He rested his self-defense claim on his story that he fired that first

shot at the ground, fearful that Roy might draw a gun and with no

intent to harm Roy (i.e., not an assault), and that his subsequent

shots were fired in self-defense only after Roy had fired at him.

The State was entitled to counter this defense by arguing

that the first shot, even if fired into the ground (and thus not the

actual assault), was nevertheless an intentional act reasonably

likely to provoke a belligerent response, thus creating the necessity

for Justice to act in self-defense by firing back at Roy. Under this

scenario, Justice was the first aggressor, and was not entitled to

claim self-defense. CP 408 (WPIC 16.04).

While the aggressor instruction is to be given only "sparingly

and carefully," it is proper "where the theories of the case cannot be

sufficiently argued and understood by the jury without such an

instruction." Bea, 162 Wn. App. at 576. Given Justice's theory of
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self-defense, the aggressor instruction was needed to argue that

Justice's initial shot, even if fired into the ground, was sufficiently

provocative to negate his claim of self-defense. See Id. at 578

("The first aggressor instruction was needed for the State to argue

that these acts could negate Mr. Bea's theory of self-defense.").

c. Justice Waived Any Challenge To The Wording
Of The Instruction.

Justice additionally argues that the trial court erred by not

adding additional language to WPIC 16.04, the first aggressor

instruction, specifically to inform the jurors that words alone could

not constitute sufficient provocation to defeat aself-defense claim.

This argument fails.

First of all, Justice voiced only a general exception to the first

aggressor instruction. Once the court determined to give it, Justice

never asked the trial court to add this additional language to the

standard instruction. Under RAP 2.5(a), an appellate court may

refuse to hear a claim of error that was not raised in the trial court.

State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). "The

underlying policy of the rule is to ̀ encourag[e] the efficient use of

judicial resources. The appellate courts will not sanction a party's

failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the
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opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and

a consequent new trial."' Id. at 98 (quoting State v. Scott, 110

Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)).

A party must make his dissatisfaction with jury instructions

given or refused clear to the trial court to preserve any error for

appeal. "Exceptions to the failure of the trial court to give an

instruction must clearly apprise the trial judge of the points of law

involved. Where the exception and the discussion of it does not do

so, points of law or issues involved will not be considered on

appeal." Seattle v. Rainwater, 86 Wn.2d 567, 571, 546 P.2d 450

(1976). "If a party does not propose an appropriate instruction, it

cannot complain about the court's failure to give it." Goodman v.

Boeing Co., 75 Wn. App. 60, 75, 877 P.2d 703 (1994), aff'd, 127

Wn.2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995). See Christensen v. Munsen,

123 Wn.2d 234, 247, 867 P.2d 626 (1994) ("[S]ince plaintiff did not

raise this. issue in excepting to the instruction before the trial court,

it need not be considered here.").

Having failed to preserve his claim that the aggressor

instruction should have included a caution that words alone are not

sufficient provocation, Justice can gain review only if he can show

manifest constitutional error. RAP 2.5(a)(3). This requires a
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showing of "actual prejudice," i.e., a "plausible showing ...that the

asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the

trial of the case." O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 91 (quoting State v.

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)).

Justice cannot make this showing under the facts of this

case. Both witness testimony and the video showed that the

provocation consisted of much more than words —Justice made

provocative gestures, and he fired the first shots. Moreover, the

State never argued that Justice's words alone could justify a finding

that he was the aggressor.

Justice, citing to RP 2038, claims that the State "highlighted

this evidence" (i.e., Justice's words) in its closing argument.

Amended Brief of Appellant at 30-31. This is not completely

accurate. The State highlighted the combination of Justice's words

and actions:

Michael Justice paces, gestures, and he yells in Ed
Roy's direction. Watch the defendant's body
language, and you tell me if he looks angry or scared.
He's angry. And watch his body language through
the entire video.

He literally stalks Ed Roy back to the south side of the
street. He's screaming down the street at Ed Roy.
"Come back here." All sorts of profanities.
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And where does he stand? Right between Ed Roy
and Ed Roy's car. He knows where Ed Roy's car is
parked and he knows Ed Roy is going to have to get
in this car if he wants to leave. So- where does the
defendant position himself? Right in between them.
Is that something that someone that's scared does or
someone that's angry does?

RP 2038-39.

Justice also cites to RP 2049 in support of this argument.

There, in arguing that Justice was not afraid of Roy, the State

pointed out that "Michael Justice stood at the end of this street

trying to bait [Ed Roy] back into engaging with him." RP 2049.

Justice apparently interprets "bait" as referring to words alone. But

the testimony does not support this. Naomi Ishisaka said that

Justice reached toward his waistband "like he was trying to like

show that he was armed." RP 829. Roy testified that Justice was

"still gesturing" as he crossed the street, as if "trying to signal for

me to come down that way." RP 1110-11. As the evidence before

the jury indicated that "baiting" included gestures as well as words,

the State's argument cannot be said to focus on words alone.

Given this evidence and the relevant argument, Justice

cannot show that, had the jury been instructed that words alone

were insufficient to support the first aggressor instruction, they

would have accepted his claim of self-defense. The alleged error
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had no practical and identifiable consequences in this case, and

Justice cannot raise this claim for the first time on appeal.

d. Counsel Was Not Ineffective In Failing To Ask
For An Additional Admonition Concerning
"Words Alone."

Justice argues in the alternative that his trial counsel was

ineffective in failing to request that the first aggressor instruction

state that words alone could not support a conclusion that he was

the aggressor. For many of the reasons argued in subsection c.,

supra, this claim fails.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to effective

assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686,

104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984). To prevail on a claim of

ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show that:

(1) counsel's representation was deficient, meaning it fell below an

objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all

the circumstances; and (2) the defendant was prejudiced,. meaning

there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding

would have been different had the allegedly deficient conduct not

occurred. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; State v. McFarland, 127

Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). If the court decides that

either part of this test has not been met, it need not address the
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other part. State v. Garcia, 57 Wn. App. 927, 932, 791 P.2d 244,

rev. denied, 115 Wn.2d 1010 (1990).

The inquiry in determining whether counsel's perFormance was

constitutionally deficient is whether counsel's assistance was

reasonable considering all the circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at

688. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly

deferential; every effort should be made to "eliminate the distorting

effects of hindsight," and judge counsel's performance from counsel's

perspective at the time. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

In judging the performance of trial counsel, courts must

engage in a strong presumption of competence. Strickland, 466 U.S.

at 689. This includes a presumption that challenged actions were the

result of reasonable trial strategy. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689-90.

Legitimate trial strategy or tactics cannot be the basis of a claim of

ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Garrett, 124 Wn.2d 504,

520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994).

In addition to overcoming the strong presumption of

competence and showing deficient performance, a defendant must

affirmatively show prejudice. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Prejudice

is not established by a showing that an error by counsel had some

conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Strickland, 466
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U.S. at 693. Rather, the defendant must establish a reasonable

probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding

would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

The failure to request a jury instruction may be a legitimate

tactical decision. See State v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 90-91,

210 P.3d 1029 (2009) (decision not to request limiting instruction as

to gang-related evidence was legitimate trial strategy not to

reemphasize damaging evidence). Counsel here could reasonably

have decided that calling the jury's attention once more to Justice's

profanity-laced tirade directed at Roy would be counter-productive

Justice has not established deficient performance.

Nor can Justice establish prejudice. The State never argued

that words alone could make Justice the aggressor, or deprive him

of his self-defense claim. Moreover, the video showed much more

than "mere words" — it depicted Justice's aggressive gestures, and

showed him firing the first shots. Given these facts, there is no

reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have

been different had Justice's counsel proposed that language

directed to "words alone" be added to the first aggressor instruction.

He has failed to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel.
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e. The Prosecutor Did Not Misstate The Relevant
Law In Closing Argument.

Justice contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct

in her closing argument relating to the first aggressor instruction.

This claim ignores the context of the argument, the issues in the

case, the evidence, and Justice's theory of defense.

To support a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the

defendant bears .the burden of establishing both the impropriety of

the comments and their prejudicial effect. State v. Russell, 125

Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). Allegedly improper arguments

are reviewed in the context of the total argument, the issues in the

case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions

given. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85-86; see State v. Emery, 174

Wn.2d 741, 764 n.14, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) ("In analyzing prejudice,

we do not look at the comments in isolation, but in the context of

the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence, and the

instructions given to the jury.").

A defendant who did not object at trial is deemed to have

waived any claim of prosecutorial misconduct, unless the remarks

were "so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not
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have cured the resulting prejudice."25 "Under this heightened

standard, the defendant must show that (1) no curative instruction

would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the

misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of

affecting the jury verdict." Emerv, 174 Wn.2d at 761 (internal

quotation marks omitted).

Justice points to the following language in the prosecutor's

closing argument: "If he provoked the incident, then it's not self-

defense. And that's what we have here. Mr. Justice cannot claim

self-defense here because he is the one who created the situation

that everyone on that street was subjected to when he decided to

fire his gun." RP 2015. He did not object to this argument at trial.

Justice now finds fault with this language, arguing that it

contravenes the principle that the provoking act must be separate

from the conduct that constitutes the assault. See Bea, 162 Wn.

25 This Court should reject Justice's attempt to avoid this higher standard
required by his failure to object. He analogizes to State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App.
724, 265 P.3d 191 (2011), relying on dicta in footnote 7 at pages 736-37.
Amended Brief of Appellant at 39-40. In Walker, the appellate court found four
separate instances of prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument. Id. at
730-36. As to the claim that Justice relies on here (misstating the law of defense
of others), Walker did object. Id. at 735. The courts conclusion that prejudice
existed even under the more demanding standard (fn.7) was colored by its
observation that "the cumulative effect of repetitive prejudicial prosecutorial
misconduct may be so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions can
erase their combined prejudicial effect." Id. at 737 (italics added). Justice makes
only one claim of prosecutorial misconduct, and he did not object.
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App, at 577 (provoking act cannot be the actual assault); Kidd, 57

Wn. App. at 100 (same). This argument ignores his own theory of

defense. While the incontrovertible evidence from the video forced

Justice to admit that he fired the first shot, he denied any intent to

hit Roy with that shot. RP 1797-98. Justice instead claimed that he

"put the bullet in the only place that I thought was safe to put it .. .

In the grass." RP 1797.

The prosecutor was permitted to counter this argument by

pointing out that, even under this scenario, Justice could not claim

self-defense. By deciding to fire that first shot, Justice provoked the

gunfight that ensued. And under Justice's version of events —that

the first shot was not fired at Roy and was not intended to hit him —

that first shot did not constitute an assault. The argument was thus

a proper response to Justice's theory of defense.

Moreover, Justice did not object to the argument that he now

challenges. He cannot show —indeed, he does not even argue —

that any prejudice from the prosecutor's argument could not have

been obviated by a curative instruction, had one been requested.

He cannot meet his burden here. He has waived any error.
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The Instruction Did Not Affect The Necessity
Defense.

Justice argues that any error in giving the first aggressor

instruction requires reversal of his conviction for unlawful

possession of a firearm as well. This argument relies on a

misunderstanding of the necessity defense.

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